IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

REBECCA LEONARD and MATTHEW LEONARD, :
by and through their parents and next friends, JOE
H. LEONARD, JR. and VIRGINIA G. LEONARD;
and ELISA ANSLOW, by and through her parents
and guardians, TRINA and MICHAEL ANSLOW;

on behalf of themselves and all others similarly
situated,

Plaintiffs,

. Civil Action No.
V. :

. Class Action
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WELFARE OF THE
COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA and

GARY ALEXANDER, in his official capacity as

Secretary of Public Welfare for the Commonwealth

of Pennsylvania, :

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

l. Introduction

1. Plaintiffs are individuals who have developmentaadilities and who
receive services funded through the OBRA WaiveMedical Assistance home and
community-based waiver administered by Defendanpdienent of Public Welfare
(DPW), that enables them to live independently othwheir families in the most
integrated setting appropriate to their needs.

2. The OBRA Waiver has funded Community Integrationviees for

Plaintiffs and approximately 600 other participant€ommunity Integration services



provide these individuals with habilitation in awdt of the home to assist them to
acquire, retain, and improve their self-help, comioation, socialization, and adaptive
skills needed to reside in the community. PlaistEnd other OBRA Waiver participants
also have received Behavior Therapy through the ®BRiiver, which helps to alleviate
or ameliorate emotional distress disturbances,rsever change maladaptive patterns of
behavioral challenges, and promote positive petggrmggowth and development.

3. Defendants recently amended the OBRA Waiver. Tiobseges, which
will take effect January 1, 2012, will result iretkermination or substantial reduction of
Community Integration services and the loss of Beharherapy services for Plaintiffs
and other similarly situated individuals. No otls&rvices are adequate or available to
meet their needs.

4. Without Community Integration services and Behavibherapy or
appropriate and available alternatives that cantriesr needs, Plaintiffs and other
similarly situated individuals will regress, losinge community living skills that they
have worked to attain and some will deteriorateabvedrally. Some may be required to
accept services, if available, in more segregagétthgs than are appropriate to meet their
needs. Some may no longer be able to live in their homes, forcing family members -
- many of whom are aging, ill, or have other resploitities -- to care for them.

5. Defendants' actions and inactions violate Title XdXthe Social Security
Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act, and theelRbilitation Act. Plaintiffs seek

appropriate declaratory and injunctive relief.



Il Jurisdiction and Venue

6. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursiue 28 U.S.C. 88 1331,
1343(a)(3), and 1343(a)(4).

7. Plaintiffs' claims are authorized by 42 U.S.C. 896, 1983, and 12133, 29
U.S.C. 8 794, and 28 U.S.C. 88 2201 and 2202.

8. Venue is appropriate in this district pursuant 8l2S.C. § 1391(b) since a
substantial part of the events that gave risedsdltlaims arose in this District.

Il.  Parties

9. Plaintiff Rebecca Leonard is a 40-year-old residehtChester County,
Pennsylvania. Ms. Leonard, who has autism, islkearon the OBRA Waiver. Ms.
Leonard brings this lawsuit by and through Joe ebrard, Jr. and Virginia G. Leonard,
her parents and next friends.

10. Plaintiff Matthew Leonard is a 44-year-old residexit Chester County,
Pennsylvania. Mr. Leonard, who has autism, is legdan the OBRA Waiver. Mr.
Leonard brings this lawsuit by and through Joe ebrard, Jr. and Virginia G. Leonard,
his parents and next friends.

11. Plaintiff Elisa Anslow is a 24-year-old resident Eiontgomery County,
Pennsylvania. Ms. Anslow, who has autism and hipdlisorder, is enrolled in the
OBRA Waiver. Ms. Anslow brings this lawsuit by amigrough Trina and Michael
Anslow, her parents and guardians.

12. Defendant Department of Public Welfare is the ®rgjhte agency that has

responsibility to implement Pennsylvania's Medi&asistance Program, including home
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and community-based waiver services provided taviddals with disabilities. 42
U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(5); 55 Pa. Code § 101.1(e).

13. Defendant Gary Alexander is the Secretary of Publielfare of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. Mr. Alexander ispogsible to assure that Penn-
sylvania's Medical Assistance program is operatedompliance with federal law. Mr.
Alexander is sued in his official capacity only factions and omissions under color of
state law.

IV. Class Action Allegations

14. Plaintiffs bring this action on their own behalfdaon behalf of a class
comprised of all persons enrolled in the OBRA Waiveho received Community
Integration services or Behavior Therapy fundecdough the OBRA Waiver as of
October 1, 2011.

15. The action satisfies the prerequisites of Federde Rf Civil Procedure
23(a):

16. The size of the class is so numerous as to makdgoiof all class members
impracticable.  According to the 2006 OBRA WaiveDPW anticipated that
approximately 665 OBRA Waiver participants would leceiving Community
Integration services in the fifth year of the Waivduly 1, 2009 to June 30, 2010).
Factors in addition to class size exacerbate thpraaticability of joinder. Class
members are dispersed throughout the Commonwehdthe disabilities, and have

limited incomes that make it unlikely that they Mmaursue individual litigation.



17. There are common questions of fact and law, inalgidiut not limited to:
(1) whether the termination or substantial reduciodd Community Integration services
and termination of Behavior Therapy with no adequatd available alternatives in place
on January 1, 2012 violates 42 U.S.C. § 1983 atld XiX of the Social Security Act,
42 U.S.C. 88 1396n(c)(2); (2) whether Resideriabilitation services will be available
on January 1, 2012 and, if not, whether the unaldgity of such services violates 42
U.S.C. § 1983 and Title XIX of the Social Securygt, 42 U.S.C. 88 1398a(a)(8) and
1396a(a)(10)(A); (3) whether small intermediateecéacilities for persons with other
related conditions will be available on January 2D12 and, if not, whether the
unavailability of such services violates 42 U.S§81983 and Title XIX of the Social
Security Act, 42 U.S.C. 88 1396a(a)(8), 1396a(3d(@p 1396a(a)(10)(B), and
1396n(c)(2)(C); and (4) whether Defendants violatde Il of the Americans with
Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. 88 12131-12134, andtieac504 of the Rehabilitation Act,
29 U.S.C. § 794, by failing to offer habilitatioersices in the most integrated setting
appropriate to meet their needs and failing to madesonable modifications to allow
them to choose Community Integration services oinvedent habilitation services, rather
than services in more segregated settings.

18. Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of slamembers.

19. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect theteérests of class members.
Plaintiffs have no interests that are adverse to oconflict with putative class members.

Plaintiffs' counsel has extensive experience inl cights, disability law, class actions,



and litigation under the Americans with Disabilgiéct, Rehabilitation Act, and Title
XIX of the Social Security Act.

20. This action can proceed as a class action pursadfederal Rule of Civil
Procedure 23(b)(2). Defendants have acted oredfts act on grounds generally appli-
cable to all members of the class, making finallal@tory and injunctive relief appro-
priate with respect to the class as a whole.

V. Factual Background

A. Medical Assistance Background

21. Title XIX of the Social Security Act (Title XIX), 2 U.S.C. 8§ 139&t seq.,
establishes the federal Medical Assistance program.

22. Medical Assistance is a cost-sharing arrangemedémuwhich the federal
government reimburses more than 50 percent of xtperalitures incurred by states that
elect to furnish Medical Assistance to individualhose income and resources are
insufficient to cover the costs of their medicaleca

23. The purpose of Medical Assistance is to provide icedservices to
eligible individuals, including services to helpchundividuals "attain or retain capability
for independence or self-care ...." 42 U.S.C. 3613

24. States are not required to participate in the Madissistance program,
but, if they choose to do so, they must adopt atésplan” that delineates the standards
for determining eligibility and identifies the exteof Medical Assistance benefits.

25. Pennsylvania has chosen to participate in the NMédissistance program

and has adopted a State Medical Assistance Plan.
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26. Title XIX delineates the types of medical servitest can be funded under
a state's Medical Assistance plafee 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1396d. Certain types of services are
mandatory €.g., inpatient hospital services, physicians' servieasl nursing facilities)
and must be included in every state's Medical Amsce plan. Other types of services
are optional €.g., hospice care, dental care, and medications), eath state has
discretion to choose whether to cover any partroogsional service. Mandatory services
and optional services that a state includes istéte plan must be provided to all Medical
Assistance recipients who are eligible for and rteede services.

27. Many home and community-based services for peopth disabilities
(such as, habilitation and community integratiorviees) cannot be covered either as
mandatory or optional services under Title XIX.

28. Title XIX permits a state to obtain a home and camity-based services
(HCBS) waiver from the Centers for Medicare and Maudl Services (CMS). 42 U.S.C.
§ 1396n(c). HCBS waivers allow states to includetheir state plans as "Medical
Assistance" home and community-based servicesitbviduals who, without such care,
would require institutionalization in intermediatare facilities for persons with mental
retardation or other related conditions, nursirglitees, or hospitals.

29. HCBS waivers allow states to waive three Title XiXquirements that
apply to mandatory and optional services -- theest@leness requirement (which
requires the state to assure the availability aWises in all geographic areas); the

comparability requirement (which requires the stateassure that all eligible persons



have access to services in the same amount, duraid scope); and income and
resource rules. 42 U.S.C. § 1396n(c)(3).

30. By waiving the comparability requirement, states @enit the number of
persons who will be allowed to participate in an B8 waiver and can establish
gualifications for eligibility based on age, diddlj or other criteria. Waiver of the
comparability requirement also allows states tovigl® Medical Assistance services to
HCBS waiver participants in a different amount, ation, or scope than is available to
other Medical Assistance participants.

31. A state can provide services in HCBS waivers that reot identified in
Title XIX as approved mandatory or optional sergi¢eg., habilitation and community
integration services). 42 U.S.C. § 1396n(c)(4)@&),C.F.R. § 440.180.

32. The purpose of Title XIX's HCBS waivers is to en@me states to provide
services to assist individuals with disabilitiesaweoid institutionalization. 42 C.F.R. 8
441.300. As long as community-based services wis-dnstitutional services are cost-
neutral, see 42 U.S.C. § 1396n(c)(2)(D), the preference is tovjale services in the
community.

B. Pennsylvania's OBRA Waiver

33. Pennsylvania has received authorization from CMSoperate multiple
HCBS Waivers, one of which is known as the "OBRAiV&a"

34. To be eligible for the OBRA Waiver, an individualust: (a) be between
the ages of 18 and 59, inclusive; (b) have a dgveémtal disability that manifested prior

to age 22, is likely to continue indefinitely, amdsults in substantial functional
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limitations in three or more major life activitiesnd (c) need the level of care provided
by an intermediate care facility for persons witlhes related conditions. A person
cannot be eligible for the OBRA Waiver if he or shas a primary diagnosis of an
intellectual disability (formerly called mental aetlation) or mental iliness.

35.  Currently, there are approximately 1,600 individuahrolled in the OBRA
Waiver.

36. DPW, the single state agency designated by Perarsglto administer its
Medical Assistance program, has delegated to itc®®6f Long Term Living (OLTL)
responsibility to administer several of PennsylaeniHCBS Waivers, including the
OBRA Waiver.

37. Each individual in the OBRA Waiver has an Individead Service Plan
(ISP) that delineates the specific services whielohshe will receive under that Waiver
and the amount of each service and that identifieprovider of each service.

38. Each OBRA Waiver participant has a Supports Coatdin(SC), who is
responsible to work with the individual, his or hiamily, friends, advocates, and
providers to develop the individual's ISP.

39. OLTL, however, must approve the ISP and any seri@nges to the ISP.
OLTL cannot authorize services in the ISP thatrertepermitted by the OBRA Waiver or
that exceed the amount, duration, or scope alldwetie OBRA Waiver.

40. Although OLTL is supposed to approve ISPs and chang ISP services
within approximately 10 business days, it frequetdkes weeks or even months for the

SC to receive authorization from OLTL for the ISRlahanges to ISP.
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41. Providers will not be reimbursed by DPW for sergitieat are not in an ISP
approved by OLTL.

42. In 2006, DPW received approval from CMS to renesnOBRA Waiver for
a five-year period (2006 OBRA Waiver).

43. The home and community-based services offered & 2606 OBRA
Waiver included Community Integration services, 98eal Assistance services, Adult
Day Services, and Behavior Therapy.

44. Community Integration services were defined in2686 OBRA Waiver as
services that "assist participants in acquiringtaineng, and improving self-help,
communication, socialization, and adaptive skiksessary to reside in the community."
Community Integration services included "cueing;stie modeling of behavior, and/or
supervision to assist the participant in develogngnaintaining maximum independent
functioning in community living activities includgn domestic and leisure activities."
This service was to be provided by Community Ind¢ign Specialists. There was no
limit on the amount or duration of Community Intagon services that an OBRA Waiver
participant could receive, although the individsid8P had to delineate specific goals and
outcomes to which the Community Integration sewieeere related. DPW estimated
that approximately 665 OBRA Waiver participants Vdoreceive Community Integration
services in the fifth year of the 2006 OBRA Waiee., FY 2010-2011).

45. Personal Assistance services were defined in tig® ZDBRA Waiver as

services to provide assistance with activitiesafydiving, health maintenance activities,
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routine wellness services, meal preparation, angéleeping essential to the health and
welfare of the individuals.

46. Adult Day Services were defined in the 2006 OBRAIWBas services to
assist OBRA patrticipants to acquire, retain, orrione their self-help, socialization, and
adaptive skills in a non-residential setting sefeafiaom the person's residence. These are
essentially segregated, "day care" type services thffer little opportunity for
community integration or individualized choice dftigities. These services had to be
provided in facilities licensed by DPW as Adult ifMag Facilities or by the
Pennsylvania Department of Aging as Older Adultlyphiving Centers.

47. Behavior Therapy offered in the 2006 OBRA Waiveoded therapy to
alleviate or ameliorate emotional disturbanceserss or address maladaptive patterns of
behavioral challenges, and promote positive petdgngrowth and development.
Behavior Therapy could be provided by a behavierdhist with a bachelor's degree in
education, special education, or a related field experience in working with people
with disabilities.

48. The 2006 OBRA Waiver did not fund any form of resitdal or non-
residential habilitation services (other than AdDHy Services in segregated, licensed
settings).

49. In or around October 2011, DPW received approvahfCMS to renew its
OBRA Waiver (2011 OBRA Waiver) with certain changebhese changes will go into

effect on January 1, 2012.
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50. The 2011 OBRA Waiver imposes amount, duration, sempe limits on
Community Integration services that will signifie¢gnrestrict access to those services.
The 2011 OBRA Waiver states that Community Intagraservices are intended to be a
"short-term" service. To be eligible, participantast show that Community Integration
services are needed "to assist individuals to &ehmaximum function during life-
changing events such as a transition from a nuffsicifity, moving to a new community
or from a parent's home, or a change in conditi@t tequires new skill sets." Even
those participants who are entitled to Communitydnation services because they can
demonstrate the requisite "change" will not be axitled to receive more than eight
hours per week to work toward a single goal idedifn the participant's ISP or 12 hours
per week to work toward multiple goals. Communiityegration services cannot be
authorized for more than 26 weeks for any spegidial.

51. The 2011 OBRA Waiver eliminates Behavior Therapyirely. A new
service, called "Therapeutic and Counseling SesVicg included in the 2011 Waiver.
Therapeutic and Counseling Services include behawianagement.  Behavior
management includes consultation and ongoing cdingseand behavior strategy
development and implementation directed by theigpant's behavior analyst or
neuropsychologist. Behavior management can onlproeided by licensed psychi-
atrists, psychologists, social workers, marriagd gamily therapists, and professional

counselors.
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52. The 2011 Waiver continues to allow services, nowvkm as Adult Daily
Living (instead of Adult Day), in licensed Adultdining Facilities or Older Adult Daily
Living Centers.

53. The 2011 OBRA Waiver continues to allow fundingRarsonal Assistance
services. The slightly revised definition allowsparsonal assistant to use "cueing to
prompt" the participant to perform a task in thaneoand to "escort participants to
community activities or access other services & ¢cbmmunity.” Personal Assistants,
however, may not be reimbursed for their costsh{sag costs that might be incurred to
accompany a participant to a movie or museum).sd?@l Assistance services must be
provided by a licensed home care agency or indalidured by the OBRA Waiver
participant.

54. The 2011 OBRA Waiver adds "Structured Day Habilat as a service
available to participants. Structured Day Halila is a program to provide participants
with assistance to acquire, retain, or improve-Belp, socialization, and adaptive skills.
It provides comprehensive day programming to aequmore independent functioning
and improved cognition, communication, and lifellski It includes social skills training
and seeks to limit and cap or eliminate maladapb&kaviors. These services can be
provided for four to eight hours a day up to sedags a week. The services must take
place in small group settings, though OLTL will sater 1:1 or 2:1 enhanced staffing for
participants who need that level of support duthéir behavioral issues.

55. The 2011 OBRA Waiver adds "Residential Habilitati@s a service that

can be funded for participants. Residential H&diibn provides up to 24-hours per day
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of habilitation services to assist the individual &cquire the basic skills necessary to
maximize their independence in activities of ddiling and to fully participate in
community life. The services are individually ta#d to foster the acquisition of skills,
appropriate behavior, greater independence, arsbpar choice. Residential Habilita-
tion can be provided either in licensed personed t@mes with four to eight individuals
or in unlicensed settings owned, rented, or opdrhjea provider that serve one to three
individuals. Beginning July 1, 2014, residentiabhitation programs must achieve
CARF accreditation

56. With the elimination of Community Integration seres in the 2011 OBRA
Waiver, OBRA Waiver participants have no non-rest@dd habilitation option that
enables them to learn skills in flexible, integtagettings.

57. DPW offers “Home and Community Habilitation” ser@gcin several of its
other HCBS Waivers, which is similar to the Comntyrintegration services available
under the 2006 OBRA Waiver. DPW could have, bwt dot, include Home and
Community Habilitation in its 2011 OBRA Waiver.

58. In the section of its application to renew its OBRAiver in 2011, OLTL
listed a number of "major changes" to the documeértte purpose of this section is to
highlight for CMS changes that could impact papiasits. OLTL did not, however,
mention any change in the definition of Communitiegration services.

59. CMS requires states to submit a "transition plan'aiwaiver renewal
"would eliminate or limit any of the services thate furnished under the approved

waiver" or "affect the amount of services that fammished to waiver participants under
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the approved waiver." Although the 2011 OBRA Waixenewal limits the amount of
Community Integration services furnished under 2086 Waiver and would affect the
amount of services participants received, DPW didsabmit a transition plan.

60. Inits 2011 renewal application for the OBRA WaivelLTL stated that its
inclusion of Residential Habilitation and Structii@ay Habilitation "have been added to
better serve individuals currently residing in Pa Care Homes." On information and
belief, few OBRA Waiver participants live in PersbrCare Homes. It is, accordingly,
unclear whether OLTL considered how those serweesld be provided to individuals
who do not live in Personal Care Homes.

61. On September 29, 2011, OLTL issued a policy Bulleid Supports
Coordinators, providers, and participants in theR@BWaiver to advise them of the
change to the definition of Community Integrati@msces in the 2011 OBRA Waiver.

62. Many current OBRA Waiver participants will not béigeéle for any
Community Integration services beginning on Janugr®012 because they have not
been subject to a recent life-changing event, aenav a change in condition that
requires a new skill set, and their services wdl terminated. Any OBRA Waiver
participants who might continue to qualify for Conmmity Integration services after
January 1, 2012 will have those services limited @apped at no more than 12 hours per
week for a limited duration.

63. OLTL has not issued a policy Bulletin or providedher guidance
concerning the other changes in the 2011 OBRA Waiweluding the elimination of

Behavior Therapy as a funded service or the addioResidential and Structured Day
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Habilitation. The lack of information has resultéd confusion among Supports
Coordinators, providers, and OBRA Waiver particigaconcerning the availability of
those services.

64. Although DPW will terminate or substantially lim#nd cap Community
Integration services for OBRA Waiver participantfeetive January 1, 2012, there are no
appropriate alternatives that will be availabléhose individuals on that date.

65. Community Integration services have provided esslemabilitation to
OBRA patrticipants who have autism or brain injurijhese services -- provided both in
the participants’ homes and in various communitiynggs -- allow individuals to acquire,
maintain, or improve their self-help, socializati@nd adaptive skills. The participants'
cognitive, communication, and behavioral deficits addressed through development of
compensatory strategies and the practice of skitaff that provide this service offer
direction and feedback to the participants basedthmr unique issues, including
impulsivity, judgment, and psychosocial skills. $heindividualized services help the
individuals to participate in their home life amddommunity life as fully, independently,
and successfully as possible.

66. Personal Assistance services are not a substautédmmunity Integration
services.

(1) Personal Assistance services essentially eaeetaking
services that assist participants to perform aaiwiof daily living, housekeeping,

shopping, and related services that they are urtalde for themselves and that provide
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supervision and oversight to individuals who canhet safely left alone. Personal
Assistance services are not habilitative.

(2)  Although the definition allows the persoasakistants to "cue"
individuals to perform some tasks themselves, thdext indicates that these tasks are
limited to tasks in the home, including activities daily living and housekeeping. It
does not extend to cueing the individual to perfaialls in the community. Even if it
did, cueing simply alerts the participant to peric task he already knows how to do. It
does not affirmatively teach skills, including commmity living skills, which they do not
already possess or to improve the skills they &ss@ss.

(3) The 2011 OBRA Waiver bars reimbursement efsBnal
Assistants' costs. This limits the ability of Reral Assistants to teach skills in a variety
of settings. For instance, some participants miggutticipate in activities that have
entrance fees or related costs, such as going wesor museums to learn skills. They
could not be accompanied by Personal Assistantsesentry fees would not be
reimbursed.

(4) OLTL pays approximately $16 to $20 per héaur Personal
Assistance services in contrast to the averageofag36 per hour that OLTL pays for
Community Integration services. The result of ttate differential is that providers are
able to hire more highly qualified staff to work @ mmunity Integration Specialists
than Personal Assistants. The higher qualificatiare necessary to provide training to

people with autism or brain injury who often havery challenging behavioral issues.
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Personal Assistants generally would not have tliks sk training necessary to provide
habilitation to individuals with challenging behakal needs.

(5) Few home care agencies are willing to previdersonal
Assistance services to individuals with autism dheo disabilities that result in
challenging behavioral issues. Those agenciesrgin@rovide those services only to
people who have physical disabilities or older wlials. They are reluctant to serve
individuals with challenging behaviors. Thus, m&@BRA Waiver participants with
autism or brain injury receive Personal Assistaservices through the same agencies
that provide their Community Integration services.

67. Adult Daily Living Services offer habilitation, buinly in segregated group
settings outside the person’'s home. This senffeesdittle, if any, opportunity to teach
domestic skills in the home or to teach communiiing skills in various community
settings. The service cannot exceed eight hodesya This service is not appropriate for
either individuals with challenging behavioral ne¢bat require more intense staffing or
for individuals who have no intellectual, cognitivae behavioral impairments and need
habilitation to learn community living skills (su@s financial skills, using public transit,
and monitoring medical needs).

68. Structured Day Habilitation is habilitative, but i& not appropriate or
adequate for Plaintiffs and putative class memb&tsuctured Day Habilitation must be
offered in segregated, group settings. In additiinuctured Day Habilitation, unlike
Community Integration services, generally does allmiw the teaching of skills in the

participants' residences, limiting their capacity learn domestic skills in their own
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homes. OBRA Waiver participants who have used Comiy Integration services to
provide individualized skills training in a varietyf settings will not benefit from
Structured Day Habilitation. The ability to leamhome and a variety of community
settings is essential to enable participants tonldgbe daily living skills they need.
Structured Day Habilitation costs as much -- if naire -- than Community Integration
services. Community Integration services costwarage of $36 per hour under the 2011
OBRA Waiver. Structured Day Habilitation costs epgmately $35 per hour, and the
cost increases to $55 per hour if 1:1 staffingasded or $75 per hour if 2:1 staffing is
needed. Many individuals with autism or brain igj@xhibit challenging behaviors and
would need at least 1:1 staffing in a Structureg Babilitation Program.

69. Residential Habilitation would provide habilitati@ervices, but it is less
integrated than necessary for OBRA Waiver participaand, in any event, is
unavailable.

(1) Residential Habilitation requires OBRA Waivgarticipants
to receive services in less integrated settinge tha homes where they currently live,
either independently or with family. Plaintiffgrfinstances, live in their own homes that
they chose. Their homes are not chosen, paiddased by, or operated by the providers
who provide them with supports. If they want to vap they can. Residential
Habilitation would require them to link their hongito the services they receive. For
individuals who are living on their own or with fag they would have to move to less

integrated settings to live with other individualgh disabilities.
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(2) Those OBRA Waiver participants who might eguc
residential services will not be able to acces$ #eavice prior to the termination or
reduction of their Community Integration serviceghere are few providers willing to
offer Residential Habilitation services to OBRA Wi participants. On information and
belief, those providers which are willing to dowil not be able to establish residential
programs by January 1, 2012.

(3) The rates established by OLTL -- $264 pey dith $20 or
$40 per hour supplements if 1:1 or 2:1 staffingpezxtively, is needed -- are not adequate
to pay providers to serve OBRA Waiver participaritsa letter sent to 20 OBRA Waiver
participants to whom it provided Community Integvat services, Keystone Human
Services (Keystone) stated that Residential Halidih was not an adequate alternative
to Community Integration services and that, evanwifere, the rate established by OLTL
was not adequate to enable Keystone to meet thiesereeds of its clients.

(4) OLTL has only established a rate for eligibbstsj.e., those
costs covered by Medical Assistance (such as st@ff)TL has not established any rates
for ineligible costs,i.e, the room and board costs that cannot be paid lediddl
Assistance for residential services. On informa@md belief, OLTL has no funding to
pay any ineligible rates, which would require thdividual or their family or some other
funding source to pay those costs.

70. The 2011 OBRA Waiver's elimination of Behavior Téyey will also have
a detrimental impact on Plaintiffs and putativesslanembers. The new "behavior

management” service funded as a "Therapeutic andnggting Service" must be
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provided by licensed staff and appears to be mbeesupervisory service rather than a
one-on-one program to address the challenging hedsaexhibited particularly by
OBRA Waiver participants who have cognitive distieis.

71. Keystone, in its letter terminating services to @BR/aiver participants,
stated that Therapeutic and Counseling Service wedsan appropriate substitute for
Behavior Therapy for people with autism.

C. ICFs/MR and ICFs/ORC

72. Intermediate Care Facilities for Persons with MeR@tardation (ICF/MR
services) are an optional service under Title XIX2 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(10)(A);
1396d(a)(15). Pennsylvania has chosen to proi@éMR services in its State Plan. As
such, Medical Assistance recipients who are ekgifr ICF/MR services have an
entitlement to receive those services.

73. Title XIX defines an "ICF/MR" as an institution fgrersons with mental
retardation "or persons with related conditions[42 U.S.C. § 1396d(d). "Persons with
related conditions" are individuals who have a sevehronic disability that (a) is
attributable to cerebral palsy, epilepsy, or ameotcondition, other than mental illness,
found to be closely related to intellectual disépibecause it results in impairment of
general intellectual functioning or adaptive bebavsimilar to that of persons with
intellectual disabilities and requires treatmentservices similar to those required for
such individuals; (b) is manifested before the age22; (c) is likely to continue

indefinitely; and (d) results in substantial fuocial limitations in three or more of the
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following major life activities: self-care; undémading and use of language; learning;
mobility; self-direction; and capacity for indepemd living. 42 C.F.R. 8435.10009.

74. Under Title XIX, "ICF/MR services" therefore incladboth intermediate
care facilities for persons with mental retardatig@Fs/MR) and intermediate care
facilities for persons with other related condisBoiCFs/ORC), such as people with
autism or brain injury who do not have intellectdedabilities.

75. The key component of ICF/MR services, including AGRC services, is
"active treatment.” Federal law requires that NIR/residents "receive a continuous
active treatment program that includes aggressommsistent implementation of a
program of specialized and generic training, treaiin health services, and related
services ...." 42 C.F.R. § 483.440(a)(1). Actireatment "is directed toward -- (i) the
acquisition of the behaviors necessary for thentli® function with as much self-
determination and independence as possible; andhéiprevention or deceleration of
regression or loss of current optimal functionaltss.” 1d. Active treatment, in essence,
is habilitation.

76. Before an individual can be admitted to an ICF/ORE,evaluation must
occur to determine "if the facility can provide fthre client's needs and if the client is
likely to benefit from placement in the facility42 C.F.R. § 483.440(b)(3).

77. People with developmental disabilities would ne€i/ORC services in
small homes located in integrated neighborhoods.

78. ICFs/MR, including ICFs/ORC, can serve as few as fodividuals.
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79. Individuals who do not have a diagnosis of an lattlal disability could
not be admitted to any ICF/MR in Pennsylvanigee Mental Retardation Bulletin No.
00-02-13 (Aug. 7, 2002).

80. On information and belief, DPW authorized the depeient of two
ICFs/ORC -- one in Pittsburgh and one in Erie. rEEF/ORC has the capacity to serve
seven individuals and provides 24-hour staffing aative treatment as required by
federal law. These ICFs/ORC are designed for andsdr people with severe physical
disabilities that occurred during the developmemtaiiod, providing these individuals
with intensive skills training to prepare them foore independent living arrangements.
The two Pennsylvania ICFs/ORC do not, cannot, awkinhave served individuals who
do not have physical disabilities. Moreover, ofoimation and belief, those two
ICFs/ORC have no openings for new residents whe Ipsaiysical disabilities.

81. DPW has significant control over the development@Ff/MR programs,
including ICF/ORC services. DPW has not soughtdineelopment of ICFs/ORC.

82. On information and belief, providers of serviceswdodevelop ICFs/ORC
for Pennsylvania, but they have not done so becthexse has been no support from
DPW.

D. Plaintiffs' Need for Services

83. Plaintiff Rebecca Leonard is a 40-year-old womaro Wwhs a diagnosis of
autism.

84. Since April 2001, Ms. Leonard has been enrollethe\OBRA Waiver.
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85. For the past ten years, Ms. Leonard has lived mole residence with a
housemate. Their home is owned by a limited ligbdorporation formed by her and her
housemate’s families. Ms. Leonard and her housemeieive Section 8 vouchers that
are used toward the rent to cover the mortgage.

86. Ms. Leonard was very involved in the selection ef home. She visited
various houses for sale in the community beforadieg on the current house. She
actively was engaged in setting up housekeeping ssldcting furniture and other
household goods.

87. As of October 1, 2011, the OBRA Waiver provides Mgonard with
approximately 106 hours per week of Community Irdéign services; 28 hours per week
of Personal Assistance services (which she shaitesher roommate); and 6 hours per
week of Behavior Therapy.

88. Ms. Leonard is generally not verbal, though shesgmak with difficulty.

89. Ms. Leonard works 16 hours per week at the offitbey OBRA Waiver
services provider, NHS.

90. Community Integration services assist Ms. Leonamtio can become
unfocused and has a low tolerance for interactiity wthers, with her communication
and interpersonal skills. Community Integratiomveses assist Ms. Leonard with her
coping skills when she becomes frustrated or agitatCommunity Integration services
assist Ms. Leonard to participate in community\aiiéis, safety awareness, and exercise.

91. Ms. Leonard's Community Integration services allwav to participate in a

wide array of community activities, including goitgthe YMCA, the library, the bank,
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shopping, having lunch with her brother, and takings. Community Integration
services enable her to participate in these a@sviby assisting her to exhibit socially
appropriate behaviors in the community.

92. Community Integration services are also esserdiassist Ms. Leonard to
solve problems as they arise at her home or icahemunity.

93. Behavior Therapy has worked to address the ditfibehaviors that Ms.
Leonard can exhibit when she is frustrated or ymseth as screaming, pacing, and body
rocking.

94. Ms. Leonard's staff who provide her Community Imé&tign services and
Behavior Therapy understand her communication and she processes information.
Her staff are aware of her non-verbal languageuatterstand what her behaviors mean
and how to address escalating negative behaviors.

95. Plaintiff Matthew Leonard is a 44-year-old man whas a diagnosis of
autism.

96. Since September 2000, Mr. Leonard has been enratiethe OBRA
Waiver.

97. For nearly eleven years, Mr. Leonard has livedighndwn residence with
two housemates. The house is owned by a limitdddliy corporation formed by his and
his housemates’ families. They receive Sectiom@cters that are used toward the rent
that covers the mortgage.

98. Mr. Leonard was actively involved in the selectioh his home and in

setting up housekeeping.
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99. As of October 1, 2011, the OBRA Waiver provides NMeonard with
approximately 106 hours per week of Community Iraéign services; 23 hours per week
of Personal Assistance services (shared with hisdmates); and 6 hours per week of
Behavior Therapy.

100. Mr. Leonard is non-verbal, but he can communicasengi facilitated
communication or a "lightwriter."

101. Mr. Leonard works at a part-time job recycling.

102. Community Integration services assist Mr. Leonardithw his
communication. Community Integration services eiskir. Leonard to learn computer
skills. Community Integration services assist Meonard with social activities in the
community, including going to restaurants, to tlaekpand mall, to the movies, walking
around town, and visiting with family and friendsCommunity Integration services
enable Mr. Leonard to improve his social skills bgarning appropriate social
interactions. Community Integration services dddis Leonard to improve his domestic
skills, including laundry and meal preparation.

103. Behavior Therapy has worked to address the diffibehaviors that Mr.
Leonard exhibits. He sometimes engages in salfioys behaviors when he becomes
upset or confused.

104. Mr. Leonard's staff who provide his Community Integon services and
Behavior Therapy understand how he communicates rasidbehavioral and social

challenges and how to address them.
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105. Ms. Leonard and Mr. Leonard maintain close relaiops with their
parents, Joe H. Leonard, Jr. and Virginia G. Lednhaho visit frequently and monitor
their care and services. Joe and Virginia Leomand are in their 70s. They are unable
and unqualified to provide services to their sod daughter if they lose the services they
have and adequate alternatives are not available.

106. In or around October 2011, when Joe and Virginiariaed learned that
their son’s and daughter’'s Community Integratiorvises would, at best, each be limited
and capped from 106 hours per week to 12 hoursvpek and that they would lose their
Behavior Therapy, they immediately began to sed&rratives to assure that their
children were able to stay in their own homes amdtinue participating in community
activities.

107. Joe and Virginia Leonard informed Rebecca and Matth_eonard's
Supports Coordinator that, if adequate alternativeder the OBRA Waiver were not
available by January 1, 2012, they would consideving their children to an ICF/ORC.
The Supports Coordinator advised DPW of this refjuesd asked for guidance and
assistance to secure that service if needed. B slae has received no response.

108. Joe and Virginia Leonard met with their childreptevider, NHS, in early
November 2011 to discuss these changes and whétterchildren's services could be
reconfigured under the OBRA Waiver to enable themmiintain services similar to
those which they currently receive. The Leonardsrmed NHS that they would be
willing to accept Residential Habilitation or ICHRQ services as an alternative if no

other options are available to enable their sondaudjhter to keep their current supports.
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109. NHS investigated the financial feasibility of thesgtions, but to date has
not been able to develop alternative services felvedeca and Matthew Leonard that are
financially feasible.

110. Neither Structured Day Habilitation nor Adult Dailyving would provide
appropriate day supports for Rebecca and Mattheswn&e. Mr. and Ms. Leonard are
able to receive habilitation services that allownthto learn and maximize their skills in
the integrated settings in the community. StrieduDay Habilitation and Adult Daily
Living would require them to receive services inr@re segregated settings than where
they currently receive those services.

111. If Rebecca and Matthew Leonard cannot receive redgtdequate alternative
services under the OBRA Waiver or an ICF/ORC bydayn 1, 2012, they will be at risk
of significant harm. They cannot stay in theirremt homes without appropriate services
and their parents cannot care for them in the farhdme due to their challenging
behaviors. Even if they were forced to move bazkheir family home, the loss of
Community Integration services and Behavior Theraply almost certainly result in
behavioral regression and the loss of skills thaythave worked to acquire as well as
preventing them from improving their skills or aaing new skills. They would also be
unable to participate in community life to the saex¢ent as they have been able to do
because their parents could not take them intocthramunity, resulting in greater
isolation and segregation.

112. Plaintiff Elisa Anslow is a 24-year-old woman whashdiagnoses of autism

and bipolar disorder.
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113. Ms. Anslow has strong skills in many areas. Shabie to complete the
vast majority of her self-care skills independentiyth only occasional verbal prompts.
She enjoys cooking and baking and can engage sethotivities with some assistance.
She also enjoys crafts, music, and simple academics

114. Due to her disabilities, however, Ms. Anslow extsbiextremely
challenging behaviors, including physical and vedggression, self-injurious behaviors,
and property destruction. These behaviors canwatgly in intensity and amount.

115. Ms. Anslow's father works outside the home fulldimuring the day and
part-time in the evenings. He is unable, unavilabnd unqualified to provide his
daughter with habilitation, behavior therapy, came] oversight she needs. Ms. Anslow's
mother has a physical illness. She is unable adalified to provide her daughter with
the habilitation, behavior therapy, care, and dgetsshe needs. They are particularly
unable to meet the challenges presented by theghdar's disability-related maladaptive
behaviors while meeting their own safety needs.

116. Due to their inability to safely provide appropeatervices to and care for
their daughter safely in their own home, Ms. Anstywarents sought alternatives that
would enable Ms. Anslow to receive services ané oaitside of the family home.

117. Ms. Anslow was enrolled in the OBRA Waiver in 20@nhd began
receiving 24-hour daily supports through the OBRAiVEr beginning in November
2008.

118. The OBRA Waiver could not pay for Ms. Anslow todiwutside her family

home since Medical Assistance does not permit payrfe room and board. Ms.
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Anslow's parents successfully persuaded the Monggpr@ounty MH/MR Program to
use state mental health funds to pay for Ms. Anslowom and board. With the
combination of OBRA services and room and boardlifugy, Ms. Anslow was able to
relocate from her parents' home to her own reselevitere she has been receiving the
services and supports she needs.

119. As of October 1, 2011, Ms. Anslow received thedaiing services funded
by the OBRA Waiver: 64 hours per week of Commuitggration services; 40 hours
per week of Behavior Therapy; 8 hours per week yigdrted Employment Services;
and 56 hours per week of Personal Assistance gstvic

120. Ms. Anslow's Community Integration staff have beesrking with her to
take on more responsibilities in her home, inclgdaundry and cleaning up after meals.

121. Ms. Anslow's Community Integration staff have beesrking with her to
enable her to improve her money management skills.

122. Ms. Anslow's Community Integration staff and Belwaviherapist have
been working with her to improve her interpersosakial, and communication skills so
that she can spend more time with her family, fignand outside the home and build
new relationships. Ms. Anslow, who prior to livieg her own had been fairly isolated
in her family home, can be polite, but she strugdie control her emotions when
interacting with others if she fears that they wéject her. Ms. Anslow's Community
Integration staff and Behavior Therapist address behaviors, and Community
Integration staff have strived to take Ms. Anslowoia variety of community settings --

restaurants, malls, church, and an amusement parlouild her community living skills.
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123. Ms. Anslow's Behavior Therapist also has workedigsure that there is
predictability, structure, and consistency to haifydactivities, which helps to ameliorate
her behavioral problems.

124. Ms. Anslow's Community Integration staff additidyahave worked to
teach her safety skills in the community, includurglerstanding car safety rules.

125. Ms. Anslow is not capable of caring for herselfpootecting herself from
harm. She needs assistance and training for lmtrestic and community living skills.
She needs oversight, supervision, and protectmmn frarm.

126. Ms. Anslow maintains a close relationship with parents, who visit her
frequently in her home and carefully monitor herecand services. They are unable to
care for her at home due to her physically aggvedsehaviors.

127. In the two years before she moved out of her pardrme, Ms. Anslow
was admitted to psychiatric hospitals eight tim&snce she has been living in her own
home with supports from the OBRA Waiver, Ms. Anslbas not had any psychiatric
hospitalizations.

128. Ms. Anslow's provider, Keystone, informed her p&em writing on
October 31, 2011 that effective January 1, 203otild no longer provide Ms. Anslow
with Community Integration services or Behavior My, effectively terminating her
current program since those services provide thk dluher supports. Without those

services, Ms. Anslow cannot continue to live in bemn residence.
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129. Ms. Anslow's parents asked Keystone to provide Maslow with
Residential Habilitation services funded through @BRA Waiver. Keystone indicated
that it was not financially feasible to do so at tate paid by DPW.

130. Ms. Anslow's parents contacted Ms. Anslow's SugpGxordinator to ask
for alternative services, including Residential Mtdiion, and/or other providers so that
Ms. Anslow would be able to remain in her currepime. Ms. Anslow's Supports
Coordinator has been unable to identify any prawdeho would be willing to provide
Ms. Anslow with services under the OBRA Waiver lapdary 1, 2012 that would enable
her to remain in her home.

131. Ms. Anslow's parents also asked whether ICF/ORis=s would be
available for their daughter in the event that titteo services are available on January 1,
2012, but received no further information.

132. If Ms. Anslow loses her current array of OBRA-fuddgervices on January
1, 2012 and there are no other services -- eiteugh OBRA Waiver services or
ICF/ORC services -- available to her on that dsle, will not be able to continue to live
in her own home. It would be traumatizing for badls. Anslow and her family if she
had to move back to her parents' home. Ms. Anslaw aggressive toward her parents
when she lived with them, which caused her psydhbiabspitalizations. These risks are
heightened by the fact that Ms. Anslow, due to digism, does not handle change well
and this would be a dramatic change in her lifehe Toss of Community Integration

service and Behavior Therapy also will almost delyacause Ms. Anslow to regress
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behaviorally, to lose the skills she has acquiesd] to prevent her from improving her
skills or acquiring new skills.

133. Plaintiffs' situations are not unique. OBRA Waiygrticipants who have
been determined to need Community Integration faedoss or substantial reduction of
those services, which are the primary source ofilitetlon, as well as the loss of
Behavior Therapy that they need to address andoweptheir behavioral challenges.
There will be no adequate or available alternatiteghese individuals prior to the
termination of their current services.

E. Irreparable Harm

134. Plaintiffs and putative class members have suffemegbarable harm as a
result of Defendants' actions and inactions that gse to this case.

135. Without the appropriate Community Integration andhBvior Therapy,
Plaintiffs and others similarly situated will alntosertainly regress and lose the skills
they have struggled to attain. Some will losertlaility to live independently in their
own homes or be forced to live in more segregag¢ithgs.

136. Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law.

VI. Claims

A. Count | — Title XIX: Health and Welfare

137. Paragraphs 1 through 136 are incorporated by maferas if fully set forth
herein. This Count is brought solely against Ddén Alexander for actions and

omissions in his official capacity under color tdte law.
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138. Title XIX requires that each HCBS Waiver must ird#u "necessary
safeguards (including adequate standards for peov@rticipation) ... to protect the
health and welfare of individuals provided servicesler the [W]aiver ...." 42 U.S.C. §
1396n(c)(2)(A). This requires a state "to provadlepeople enrolled in the [W]aiver with
the opportunity for access to all needed service®red by the [W]aiver and under the
Medicaid State plan. ... The opportunity for asc@ertains to all services available
under the [W]aiver that an enrollee is determineche¢ed on the basis of an assessment
and a written plan of care/support.” CMSImstead Update No. 4 (Jan. 10, 2001).
"Once in the [W]aiver, an enrolled individual engoyrotection against arbitrary or
inappropriate restrictions, and the State assumesbhgation to assure the individual's
health and welfare.'ld.

139. Plaintiffs' and putative class members' health avelfare have been
jeopardized by Defendant Alexander's implementadioitne OBRA Waiver. On January
1, 2012, Plaintiffs' and putative class membersh@anity Integration services will be
terminated or substantially limited and capped #&meir Behavior Therapy will be
terminated. Although the Waiver purports to offether options to Community
Integration services, those options either arepnagriate to meet the needs of Plaintiffs
or will be unavailable on January 1, 2012. Sinhylathere is no adequate alternative to
Behavior Therapy. As a result of their loss ofstheservices without the immediate
availability of appropriate alternatives, Plaindiind putative class members will regress
and lose skills and will be subject to greater sggtion and isolation as their

opportunities for community interaction with norsdbled people plummets. Some may

34



even lose their homes, forcing them to live witlmilg members who are unable to
provide appropriate care due to advancing agesstinor other obligations.

140. Defendant Alexander's acts and omissions under oblstate law violate
42 U.S.C. §8§ 1396n(c)(2)(A) and 1983.

B. Count Il -- Title XIX: Access to Residential Habilitation

141. Paragraphs 1 through 140 are incorporated by materas if fully set forth
herein. This Count is brought solely against Ddén Alexander for actions and
omissions in his official capacity under color tdte law.

142. Under Title XIX, states that participate in the Nd Assistance program
must make Medical Assistance benefits availablesligible persons. 42 U.S.C. §
1396a(a)(10)(A).

143. Title XIX provides that HCBS Waiver services appedv by CMS
constitute "Medical Assistance" under the statepk2 U.S.C. § 1396n(c)(1).

144. Since CMS has approved the OBRA Waiver, the sesvrovided under
that HCBS Waiver are "Medical Assistance" servitdest must be made available to
eligible individuals.

145. Once in an HCBS Waiver, individuals must be prosidath access to all
services available under the Waiver that they né&ed.Olmstead Update No. 4 (Jan. 10,
2001).

146. Since Residential Habilitation is a service fundsdthe OBRA Waiver,
individuals in that Waiver have an entitlement un@igdle XIX to receive that service if it

is appropriate for them.
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147. Although more segregated than their current OBRAW(faservices and
supports, Plaintiffs and putative class members rhaye no choice but to seek
Residential Habilitation absent their current supgo

148. Residential Habilitation, however, will not be dabie to Plaintiffs and
putative class members, at least not prior to #menination of their other services on
January 1, 2012.

149. Defendant Alexander's actions and omissions undier of state law that
have resulted in the failure to assure that thdsentiffs have access to Residential
Habilitation violate 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 1396&(@)(A).

150. Title XIX further mandates that Medical Assistarst®ll be furnished with
“reasonable promptness to all eligible individuald2 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(8). Defendant
thus must establish reasonable time standardsridsfuMedical Assistance, including
services under the OBRA Waiver, and must then $lwrrihose services promptly and
without any delay caused by the agency's admitiisgtrarocedures.

151. Defendant has adopted no time standard for theigpoovof Residential
Habilitation and DPW's administrative proceduresehaesulted in delays. Defendant
has failed to assure there was adequate time toitr&esidential Habilitation providers
and enable them to develop appropriate supports semdices for OBRA Waiver
participants who have complex and challenging nee@efendant has set rates for
eligible costs that are inadequate to enable ofserwvilling providers to offer
Residential Habilitation, and has failed to provideding options to pay for ineligible

expenses that are a prerequisite for Residentibllitddion. As a result, Plaintiffs and
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putative class members will not have access todeasial Habilitation prior to the
termination of their current services on JanuargQil,2.

152. Defendant Alexander's actions and omissions ucdler of state law that
have caused delay in the ability of Plaintiffs gndative class members to timely access
Residential Habilitation violates 42 U.S.C. 8§88 1@8@l 1396a(a)(8).

C. Count lll: Title XIX -- Access to ICF/ORC Services

153. Paragraphs 1 through 152 are incorporated by rateras if fully set forth
herein. This Count is brought against Defendaeixahder for actions and omissions in
his official capacity under color of state law.

154. Under Title XIX, states that participate in the Nead Assistance program
must make Medical Assistance benefits availablesligible persons. 42 U.S.C. §
1396a(a)(10)(A).

155. Medical Assistance benefits include, at the optdrthe state, ICF/MR
services. 42 U.S.C. § 1396d(a)(15). ICF/MR sawimclude ICF/ORC services for
individuals with autism or brain injury acquiredrohg the developmental period.

156. Pennsylvania has chosen to cover ICF/MR servicesitsn Medical
Assistance program, and thus must also cover ICE/@&vices.

157. Plaintiffs and putative class members are eligibid CF/ORC services and
have an entitlement to those services.

158. ICF/MR services are not available in Pennsylvanigpérsons who do not
have an intellectual disability diagnosis. There &w, if any, ICF/MRs that have

openings even to serve people with intellectualaigies.
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159. ICF/ORC services are not available in Pennsylvamiprovide services to
individuals who do not have severe physical digzdsl and there apparently are few, if
any, openings in ICFs/ORC even for people who delsvere physical disabilities.

160. Defendant Alexander's actions and omissions undler of state law that
have failed to assure access to ICF/ORC servicektei 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983 and
1396a(a)(10)(A).

161. Title XIX further mandates that Medical Assistarst®ll be furnished with
"reasonable promptness to all eligible individuald2 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(8). Defendant
thus must furnish Medical Assistance, including AGRC services, promptly and
without any delay caused by the agency's admitistrgprocedures. 42 C.F.R. §
435.930(a).

162. Appropriate ICF/ORC services will not be availalile Plaintiffs and
putative class members prior to the terminatiothefr Community Integration services
and Behavior Therapy on January 1, 2012.

163. Defendant Alexander's actions and omissions undier of state law that
have caused delay in the ability of those Plastifd timely access ICF/ORC and
ICF/MR services violates 42 U.S.C. 88 1983 and 289%8).

164. Title XIX also requires DPW to assure that the MatliiAssistance benefits
available to a "categorically needy" beneficiarg aot "less in amount, duration, or
scope than the medical assistance made availabknyoother" categorically needy

beneficiary or to a medically needy beneficiarg ULS.C. § 1396a(a)(10)(B).
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165. Plaintiffs and putative class members are categllyimmeedy Medical
Assistance beneficiaries.

166. Defendant Alexander provides ICF/MR services to esalv thousand
Medical Assistance beneficiaries who have intellectisabilities and ICF/ORC services
to approximately fourteen Medical Assistance beanafies who have severe physical
developmental disabilities.

167. Plaintiffs and putative class members are eligiole ICF/ORC services
under Title XIX, but are unable to access thoseises.

168. Defendant Alexander's actions and omissions thetlypde Plaintiffs and
putative class members from accessing appropi@édRC services violates 42 U.S.C.
88 1983 and 1396a(a)(10)(B).

169. Title XIX requires that states offer individualschoice between HCBS
Waiver services and institutional services thaytveuld need in lieu of Waiver services.
42 U.S.C. 8§ 1396n(c)(2)(C).

170. Defendant Alexander has not offered OBRA Waivetipg@ants a choice
of services in ICFs/ORC, the institutional altermatto the OBRA Waiver, since such
services are effectively unavailable.

171. Defendant Alexander's failure to offer Plaintiffsdaputative class members
the option of ICF/ORC services violates 42 U.S.C.1883 and 42 U.S.C. §

1396n(c)(2)(C).
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D. Count IV: ADA and RA

172. Paragraphs 1 through 171 are incorporated by raferas if fully set forth
herein. The claims under the Americans with Disizds Act (ADA) are brought solely
against Defendant Alexander for actions and onmssim his official capacity under
color of state law. The claims under Section 504he Rehabilitation Act (RA) are
brought solely against Defendant DPW.

173. Plaintiffs and putative class members have devetopat disabilities,
impairments that substantially limit one or morejondife activities, including but not
limited to, caring for themselves, learning, coricating, and thinking. As such,
Plaintiffs and putative class members are persotisdisabilities protected by the ADA,
42 U.S.C. §§ 12102(1)(A), 12102(2)(A), and the R8,U.S.C. § 705(20)(B).

174. Plaintiffs are eligible for community-based serd@cander the OBRA
Waiver, and, as such, are qualified persons wihlillities under the ADA and RA.

175. DPW, operated and administered by Defendant Alesgnid a public
entity subject to the requirements of Title Il bEtADA. 42 U.S.C. § 12131(1)(B).

176. DPW is a recipient of federal financial assistaand, as such, is subject to
the requirements of Section 504 of the RA. 29 0.8.794(b).

177. Defendants' termination or reduction of the Comrwimtegration services
and termination of Behavior Therapy will resulttie loss of essential services on which
Plaintiffs depend to live independently or withitifamilies and to participate as much as

possible in community life.

40



178. The day habilitation services available under tb&12OBRA Waiver are
provided only in settings that are far more segiejéhan the settings in which Plaintiffs
and putative class members currently receive Contgnumtegration services. The day
habilitation options under the 2011 OBRA Waiver Iwibt allow the provision of
habilitation in the participants' homes or in ai®@grof community settings appropriate to
learn skills that are specific to meet their needsstead, they would be required to
receive day services in segregated settings whtérgieople with disabilities.

179. Residential Habilitation or ICF/ORC services, tamuld require Plaintiffs
and putative class members to receive servicearimbre segregated settings than those
in which they currently live. Plaintiffs and putat class members live in their own
homes that they have chosen or with non-disableilyanembers. Their housing is not
linked to their services and they are not requietive in settings selected and paid for
by providers.

180. In the absence of Community Integration services aar equivalent
habilitation service, Plaintiffs and putative clasembers are at risk of segregation in
these less integrated settings. Indeed, Defendamnikl require them to switch from the
integrated services that Defendants have deterntonbd appropriate to meet their needs
to more segregated settings.

181. The provision of more integrated alternatives wibt fundamentally alter
Defendants' programs, services or activities. bBddats have been providing integrated

habilitation services to Plaintiffs and putativasd members.
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182. Defendants Alexander and DPW violate, respectivehe integration
mandate of Title Il of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 1213Rda28 C.F.R. § 35.130(d), and
Section 504 of the RA, 29 U.S.C. § 794 and 28 C.B.R1.51(d), by failing to allow
Plaintiffs and putative class members access tacgs in the most integrated setting
appropriate to meet their needs.

183. Defendants Alexander and DPW also violate, respelgti Title Il of the
ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12132 and 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(h)and Section 504 of the RA, 29
U.S.C. 8§ 794, by failing to make reasonable modifans to allow Plaintiffs and putative
class members to retain their same level of Comityuimtegration services or an
equivalent habilitation service, at least to théeak that those services would not cost
significantly more than segregated day and resiaeaiternatives.

184. Additionally, Defendants Alexander and DPW violatespectively, Title I
of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12132 and 28 C.F.R. 8§ 36(b}3), and Section 504 of the RA,
29 U.S.C. § 794 and 28 C.F.R. § 41.51(b)(3), bygisnethods of administration that
subject Plaintiffs and putative class members tcrinination through unnecessary
segregation, including, but not limited to: (aymélating or substantially reducing
Community Integration services without regard taeptial harm and assuring that
alternative, equivalent services would be availablenable Plaintiffs and putative class
members to remain in the most integrated settimgsapriate to their needs; and (b)
allowing no exceptions to enable Plaintiffs and apine class members to seek
individualized reasonable modifications to retaimeit current services or access

equivalent services where doing so would not dgstificantly more.
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VIl. Relief Requested

185. Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court:

a. retain jurisdiction over this action;

b. certify this case to proceed as a class actiorupntgo Federal Rule
of Civil Procedure 23(b)(2);

C. declare that Defendants' actions and inactionsateofi2 U.S.C. §
1983, Title XIX of the Social Security Act, the An@ans with Disabilities Act, and the
Rehabilitation Act;

d. issue appropriate injunctive relief to enjoin Defants from
continuing to violate 42 U.S.C. § 1983, Title XIX the Social Security Act, the
Americans with Disabilities Act, and the Rehabilia Act, and to take appropriate steps
to remedy their violations;

e. issue such other relief as may be just, equitadrhel appropriate,
including an award of reasonable attorneys' feggation expenses, and costs pursuant
to 42 U.S.C. 88 1988 and 12205 and 29 U.S.C. §(b%4a
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and
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